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ithwestern & Pacific Specialty Finance, Inc. Doc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISRICT OF CALIFORNIA
OAKLAND DIVISION
BILL GRAVES and MINERVA LOPEZ, on| Case No: C 13-1159 SBA
behalf of themselves and all persons similarly
situated, ORDER GRANTING MOTION
TO DISMISSAND DENYING
Plaintiffs, MOTION TO STRIKE CLASS
ALLEGATIONS
VS.
Docket 19

SOUTHWESTERN & PACIFIC
SPECIALTY FINANCE, INC. DBA CHECK
‘N GO and Does 1 thugh 100 inclusive,

Defendants.

Plaintiffs Bill Graves ("Graves") andinerva Lopez ("Lopez") (collectively,
"Plaintiffs") bring the instant action on béhaf themselves and a putative class of
similarly situated persons against Defendaoithwestern & Pacific Specialty Finance,
Inc., dba Check 'N Go ("Defendant"), allegithat Defendant made consumer loans in
violation of California Finacial Code § 22000 et sé@nd California Business and
Professions Code § 17260seq._See Compl., Dkt. 1. &parties are presently before the
Court on Defendant's motion to dismiss and oot strike the class actions. Dkt. 19.
Plaintiffs oppose the motions. Dkt. 22. Hayiread and considered the papers filed in
connection with these matters and bduity informed, theCourt hereby GRANTS
Defendant's motion to dismiss, and DENIE&endant’'s motion to strike the class

allegations, for the reasons stated below. The Court, in its discretion, finds these mat

1 This division is known as the "CalifoaFinance Lenders Law." See Cal. Fin.
Code § 22000.
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suitable for resolution withut oral argument. See Fed.R.Civ.P. 78(b); N.D. Cal. Civ. L.R.

7-1(b).
I.  BACKGROUND

Defendant is a corporation based in Gdmnal does business throughout California.
Compl. T 2. Defendant offers Califormesidents deferred deposit loans, commonly
referred to as "payday loangfid installment loans__Id.1. Although Defendant has
"stores" in California, it offers. substantial percentage oflians over the Internet through
its website. _Id.

Plaintiffs are California residents. Compl. 1. On January 5, 2013, Graves ent
into an Installment Lan Agreement ("Loan Agement") with Defendant. Id.  26. The
Loan Agreement provides thata@»es will receive a loan of $H0 and is required to repay
principal and interest in 26 installmentyp@ents from January 31, 2013 to January 16,
2014. Id. It also provides an APR (i.annual percentage rate) of 217.02% and finance
charges of $8,057.09. Id. &es obtained his loan aftemgpleting an online application
on Defendant's website. Id. § 2Blaintiffs allege that poxins of Graves' loan application
appeared as "pop- ups" on his computer monatad, that he was required to click on boxe
to signify that he had "signed" the agreemddt. According to Rlintiffs, Graves' Loan
Agreement is procedurally unconscionabld aantains substaely unconscionable
terms, including the amount of the finance gesrand the APR._Id. § 30. As of the date
the complaint was filed, Graves had paideatst $502 towards the amount owed under th
Loan Agreement. Id. § 35.

On December 22, 2012, Lopez entered ataban Agreement with Defendant.
Compl. 1 27. The LoaAgreement provides that Lopez widceive a loan of $2,600 and i
required to repay principal and interestLihinstallment payments from January 20, 2013
to October 20, 2014. 1d. It also provadan APR of 198.17% and finance charges of
$2,856.82._Id. Lopez obtained her loareatompleting an application at one of
Defendant's stores. |d. § 28.ccording to PlaintiffsLopez's Loan Agreement is
procedurally unconscionable and contairsssantively unconscionable terms, including
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the amount of the finance charges and the ARRY 30. As of the date the complaint wal
filed, Lopez had paid at least $545 towardsdmount owed under the Loan Agreement.
Id. § 352

On February 20, 2013, Phiffs commenced the instaacttion in the Superior Court
of California, County of Alameda, alleging claims for violation of California Financial
Code 8§ 22000 et seq., and Gaiifia Business and Professions Code 8§ 17200 et seq. S
Compl. On March 14, 2013, Defendant rentbtiee action to thi€ourt pursuant to the
Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(dhtice of Removal, Dkt. 1. The parties
are now before the Court on Defendant's matimodismiss and motion to strike the class
allegations. Dkt. 19. Plaintifisppose the motions. Dkt. 24.
. LEGAL STANDARD

A. Motion to Dismiss Under Rule 12(b)(6)

"Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is propeinen the complaint either (1) lacks a
cognizable legal theory or (Bils to allege sufficient fact® support a cognizable legal
theory." Somers v. Apple, ¢n 729 F.3d 953, 959 (9th C#013). "Rule 12(b)(6) is read

in conjunction with Rule 8(a), which requsraot only 'fair notice of the nature of the

claim, but also grounds on which the claimstse " Zixiang Li v.Kerry, 710 F.3d 995,

998-999 (9th Cir. 2013). "To survive a nmtito dismiss, a complaint must contain
sufficient factual matter, acceptedtase, to 'state a claim telief that is plausible on its
face."" Ashcroft v. Igbal, 35U.S. 662, 678 (2009). A chaihas "facial plausibility when

the plaintiff pleads factual content that allothie court to draw the reasonable inference
that the defendant is liable for the miscondlieiged.” 1d. Where a complaint or claim is

dismissed, "[lJeave to aamd should be granted unless th&ribt court determines that the

2 Plaintiffs allege that Defedant offered, originated or made installment loans to
Class Members during the Class Period. Compl. § 37. In each of those instances,
Defendant allegedly used a substantialigikir Loan Agreement and imposed finance
charges amounting to at least 180% ARR more commonly over 200% APR. Id.
Plaintiffs also allege that, in each of thagstances, the lan Agreement wsaan adhesion
contract and procedurally unconscionable, and that the APR of the loan made the loa
substantively unconscionable. Id.

[72)

D




© 00 ~N oo 0o B~ W N P

N RN DN RN N N NN DN R P R R R R R R R
0o N o oo A WO N R O ©O 0O No o0 ODN - O

pleading could not possipbe cured by the allegation ofher facts."_Knappenberger v.
City of Phoenix, 566 F.3836, 942 (9th Cir. 2009).

B. Motion to Strike Class Allegations

Under Rule 12(f), the court may "strike finca pleading an insufficient defense or
any redundant, immaterial, impertinent, oarsgalous matter." Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(f). The
function of a Rule 12(f) motiois "to avoid the expenditu@ time and money that must
arise from litigating spurious issues by disgiag with those issues prior to trial."
Whittlestone, Inc. v. Handi-Craft Co., 6E83d 970, 973 (9th €i2010). Rule 12(f)

motions to strike are generally regarded vdisfavor because of the limited importance o
pleading in federal practice, and because #reyoften used as a delay tactic. See

California Dept. of Toxic Substances ContvoRlco Pacific, Irt., 217 F.Supp.2d 1028,

1033 (C.D. Cal. 2002). Motiorts strike are generally not granted unless it is clear that
matter sought to be strickeould have no possible bearing thie subject matter of the

litigation. In re Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. Wagad Hour Litigation505 F.Supp.2d 609, 614

(N.D. Cal. 2007). Any doubt concerning the impafrthe allegations to be stricken weigh
in favor of denying the ntoon to strike. _Id.

A court may "strike class allegatiopsor to discovery if the complaint
demonstrates that a class action cannot betaiagd.” Tietsworth v. Sears, 720 F.Supp.2

1123, 1146 (N.D Cal. 2010%anders v. Apple Inc., 672Fupp.2d 978, 990 (N.D. Cal.

2009); see Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(#)(D) (In a class action, a court may "require that the
pleadings be amended to eliminate allegateidmsut representation of absent persons ang
that the action proceed accorglyn"). However, motions tetrike class allegations are
disfavored because a motion for class dedtfon is a more appropriate vehicle for
arguments pertaining to the class allegatiddse Thorpe v. Abbott Laboratories, Inc., 53
F.Supp.2d 1120, 1125 (N. Cal. 2008); Kazemi v. Pads Shoesource Inc., 2010 WL
963225, at *2 (N.D. Cal. 2010); see also I'Wal-Mart Stores, 505 F.Supp.2d at 614-615

("Generally, courts review class allegationtigh a motion for class certification."). The
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decision as to whether to strike allegatiesa matter within the Court's discretion.
Biggins v. Wells Fargo & Co., 266 FIR.399, 406 (N.D. Cal. 2009).
[11. DISCUSSION

A. Motion to Dismiss

Plaintiffs' first claim for réef alleges that Defendant violated the California Finangce
Lenders Law by offering loans that are grdarally unconscionabkend that contain
substantively unconscionable terms, includimg amount of the finance charges and the
APR. See Compl. 11 22, 26-28, 30, 32-34. Bipatly, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants
violated § 22302 of the California Financiabd®, which provides thdfa] loan found to
be unconscionable pursuant to Section 167f.ghe Civil Code shall be deemed to be in
violation of this division and subject to themedies specified in this division." Cal. Fin.
Code § 22302(b) (footnote @éeld). Section 22713 of the California Financial Code
provides that willful violators of the statutghall be liable for a civpenalty not to exceed
two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500)dach violation, which shall be assessed and
recovered in a civil action brought in the naofi¢he people of the State of California by
the commissionéiin any court of competent jurisdien.” Cal. Fin.Code § 22713(c)
(footnote added).

Defendant contends that dimsal of Plaintiffs' first cim for relief is appropriate

because there is no private right of action urg22302. Def.'s Mtn. at 7. Defendant

3 Section 1670.5 of the Califioia Civil Code provides:

If the court as a matter of law finds thentract or any clause of the contract
to have been unconscionable at theetinwas made the court may refuse to
enforce the contract, or it may enfotbe remainder of the contract without
the unconscionable clause, or it may so limit the application of any
unconscionable clause as tmal any unconscionable result.

Cal. Civ. Code § 1670.5(afection 1670.5 does not "ate an affirmative cause of
action but merely codifies the deferefaunconscionability.”"See Dean Witter
Reynolds, Inc., v. Superior Court,2Cal.App.3d 758, 766 (1989); California
Grocers Assn. v. Bank of Americ22 Cal.App.4th 205217 (1994).

g 4" '‘Commissioner' means the CommissioneBus$iness Oversight." Cal. Fin. Code
22005.
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argues that while the statute provides for governraeftrcement, it does not provide for i
private right of action._ld. According Defendant, 8 22302 is a defense to the
enforcement of a contract, not affirmative chim. Id.

The California Finance Lenders Law providesenforcement of its provisions by
the Commissioner of Business Oversight or tit®mey General. See Cal. Fin. Code §
22713. Plaintiffs have naited any portion of the statuthat expressly provides for
private enforcement. Nor have Plaintiffs cited any decisional authority holding that a
private right of action exists under the Calif@rktiinance Lenders Law. Courts consideri
this issue have concluded that there is nogbeivight of action to enforce a violation of §

22302. _See Soares v. ReconTrust Co.,.N2812 WL 190124, at *4 (N.D. Cal. 2012)

(dismissing claim brought undg 22302 because the statute does not provide a private
right of action);_Cazares v. ldeehold Finance Corp., 2005 V6418178, at *12 (C.D. Cal.
2005) (same); see also GMATOmMmercial Finance LLC v. Superior Court, 2003 WL

21398319, at *5 (2003) ("[T]he Californiarfdnce Lenders Law provides for enforcement

of its provisions only by the Commissionertbe Attorney Genefta The Law makes no
provision for private enforcement."”) (citatiomitted) (unpublished opion). Accordingly,
because there is no private right of actimaler the California Finance Lenders Law,
Defendant's motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ ficsaim for relief isGRANTED without leave
to amend.

B. Motion to Strike Class Allegations

Defendant contends that arder striking the class allegations is appropriate for
three reasons. First, Defendant argues thedusee all of the putative class members exc

the Plaintiffs and four othendividuals have entered intbnding arbitration agreements,

Plaintiffs cannot satisfy Rule 23(a)'s numdrosequirement if the putative class members

who signed binding arbitration agreementsex@uded from the class. Def.'s Mtn. at 10-
11, 13-14. Second, Defendant argues thatusecRIaintiffs have rejected the arbitration
agreement contained in their &w Agreements, they are natltypical of putative class
members who signed the arbiion agreement nor are thagequate representatives of

-6 -
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those class members. Id. at 11-12, 14. d/Hefendant argues that Plaintiffs cannot
satisfy the requirements of Rule 23(b)(3) beedlitsis clear that class treatment is not the
superior method of adjudication in the presaeiton, where nearly all of the absent class
members signed Arbitration Agements, and litigation woufttecessarily be devoted to
enforcement of those agreemefas issue not even involvingamed Plaintiffs) rather than
the merits of Plaintiffs' claims.” Id. at 14-15.

In support of these arguments, Defendahés on the declaration of Roger Dean,
Defendant's Chief Financial Officer. Dean Decl, Pkt. 22. Dean ars that each of the

named Plaintiffs as wells as four othergiive class members rejected the arbitration

agreement contained in their Loan Agreement applications. Id. 1 11-13. Dean furthé¢

avers that, other than these six individualspuatative class member rejected the arbitrati
agreement._Id. § 14. In respse, Plaintiffs argue that Defl@ant's motion to strike should
be denied because it is prealied on extrinsic evahce that cannot be considered by the
Court in ruling on the motion. The Court agrees.

The grounds for a motion &irike must be readily garent from the face of the
pleadings or from materials that may be judigiaoticed. _In re Toyota Motor Corp., 790
F.Supp.2d 1152, 1170 (C.@al. 2011); SEC v. Sand9BF.Supp. 1149,165 (C.D. Cal.

1995). While class allegations may be seitlat the pleading stage, the granting of a
motion to dismiss or strike class allegatitmedore discovery hasommenced should be

done rarely._See In re Wal-Mart Stores, 50Supp.2d at 615 (noting that the better cour

Is to deny such a motion becatuble shape and form of aask action evolves through the
process of discovery).

In reply, Defendant does not argue tha& ficts in the Dean declaration are subjeg
to judicial notice. Nor has Defendant cited/authority holding that it is appropriate for
the Court to consider the Dedaclaration in ruling on its main to strike. Other than the
Dean declaration, Defendant offers no basigie Court to strike the class allegations.

Defendant does not argue, let alone show, thatdison to strike shdd be granted solely

—
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based on the allegations in the complaifithus, Defendant has failed to demonstrate tha
the class allegations should be stricken.

While Defendant's arguments may ultimatetgve to be persuasive, the Court find
that Defendant's motion to strikepremature given that Deféant has not filed an answer
to the complaint, discovellyas not yet commenced, andmotion for class certification

has been filed. See In re Wal-Mart Stof35 F.Supp.2d at 615-616 (finding that a motig

to dismiss class allegations was prematunere the defendant tiaot answered the
complaint, discovery had hget commenced, and no motifor class certification had
been filed); Cholakyan v. Mercedes-Benz USAC, 796 F.Supp.2d 2D, 1246 (C.D. Cal.

2011) (finding that a motion to strike cladtegations was prematiwhere defendant had
not filed an answer and disaary had not begun). In tladsence of discovery and the
presentation of specific arguments from bothipa concerning class certification, the
Court lacks sufficient informatioto rule on the propriety of éhclass allegations. See In r

Wal-Mart Stores, 505 F.Supp.2d at 615 (Ha absence of any discovery or specific

arguments related to class certification, the €sunot prepared to rule on the propriety o
the class allegations and explicitigserves such a ruling").

Though Defendant points opbtential difficulties for Platiffs in certifying the
proposed class, Defendant has not showntligsie concerns justify striking the class
allegations at this early stage of the praltiegs. Defendant's arguments regarding the
class allegations are essentiahguments in oppd#n to a class certification motion that
has yet to be filed. These arguments are dddtessed at the class certification stage aft
the parties have had an opportunity to condigcovery and Plaintiffs have filed a motion

for class certification. Accondgly, Defendant's motion torgte the class allegations is

5The Court notes that the complaint does allege that th Loan Agreements
entered into by Plaintiffs and putative €damembers contain an arbitration provision.
Moreover, even assuming the agreents contain such a prawis, there are no allegations
in the complaint supﬁorting Defendant's cotitanthat all putative class members except
Plaintiffs and four others sigdehe arbitration agreement.
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DENIED without prejudice. Defendant mayowe to strike the class allegations at the
close of discovery or after a motiorr fdass certification has been filed.
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated aboMe|S HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

1. Defendant's motion to dismiss is GRAMED. Plaintiffs' first claim for relief
Is dismissed with prejudice.

2. Defendant's motion to strike clasiegations is DENIED without prejudice.

3. This Order termates Docket 19.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: 11/4/2013 é é %? A
A OWN ABMSTRONG

United States District Judge




